
  
 

 
 

Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 
Meeting Notice March 28, 2024 

 
 

 
WHAT:       The City of Richmond’s Economic Development Authority will hold its 
 March Board Meeting. 
 
WHEN:          Thursday, March 28, 2024, at 5:00 P.M. 
 
WHERE:     Main Street Station, 1500 East Main Street, 3rd floor Conference Room 
 
CONTACT:  Glenna Chung at (804) 646-1507 or Glenna.Chung@rva.gov. 
 

For more information about The City of Richmond’s Economic Development Authority (EDA), 
Visit:  http://www.richmondeda.com 

 
 

mailto:Glenna.Chung@rva.gov
http://www.richmondeda.com/


Agenda 



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND 
BOARD MEETING MARCH 28, 2024 AGENDA 

 
 

I. Call to Order 
A. Public Meeting Disclosure 

II. Comment (Maximum of Three Minutes Per Person) 

III. Meeting Minutes 
A. Meeting Minutes – February Board Meeting 

IV. New Business 
A. Approval of February Financial Report 
B. Policy Regarding Participation In Meetings By Electronic Communication Means 
C. Operating Account Adjustments Due from the City of Richmond 
D. State and Local Performance Grants for PPD 

V. Report of the Officers 
A. Report of the Chairman 
B. Report of the Secretary 

VI. Other Business 

VII. Adjournment 

Upcoming Meetings 
EDA Board Committee Meeting – April 25, 2024 



Meeting Minutes 

 



Economic Development Authority (EDA) of the City of Richmond, Virginia  
Board Meeting Minutes 

Thursday, February 22, 2024 
 
 
Members present: 

Nupa Agarwal, Vice-Chairperson 
Jer’Mykeal McCoy 
Jéron Crooks 
Nathan Hughes 
Neil Millhiser 
 
Others present: 

Bonnie Ashley – City of Richmond, City Attorney’s Office  
Leonard Sledge – Department of Economic Development 
Katie McConnell – Department of Economic Development 
Glenna Chung – Department of Economic Development 
Lisa Jones – A. G. Reese & Associates 
 
Call to Order: 

Ms. Agarwal called the meeting to order at 5:16pm and Ms. Chung started recording the meeting. 
 
Public Comments: 

No public comments were received via email, phone, or otherwise by staff. Mr. Sledge read the 
public disclaimer.  
 
Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting: 

Mr. Sledge requested the Board to consider a motion to adopt the minutes of the January 25, 2024, 
Board Meeting as stated.  Mr. Hughes moved to accept the minutes. Ms. Agarwal seconded the 
motion. Mr. Millhiser abstained due to his absence for the previous meeting. The Motion passed. 
 
Committee Reports: 

Audit and Finance Committee – Mr. Nathan Hughes 

Mr. Hughes announced the Audit and Finance Committee plan to discuss financials during the 
EDA Board Meeting going forth and will schedule separate meetings when necessary.   

January Financial Reports – Ms. Lisa Jones 

Ms. Jones reviewed the EDA Financial Reports for January.  

First, Ms. Jones reported the Stone Brewery account had a net income year-to-date of $270,802, 
which was $50k ahead of budget. Note payment due in June. No major expenses or unusual 



transactions. 

Next, Ms. Jones reported the EDA Operations account had a net income year-to-date of $553,407, 
which was $541k ahead of budget. No major activity.  

Lastly, Ms. Jones reported the Leigh Street Operations account had a net income year-to-date of 
$55,141, which was $156 ahead of budget. 

There was no unusual loan activity. 

Mr. Sledge requested the Board to consider a motion to approve the January 2024 financial 
statements for the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Mr. 
Hughes moved to accept the financial statements. Mr. McCoy seconded the motion. The Motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
New Business: 

Stone Brewery Account Policy – Ms. Katie McConnell  

Ms. McConnell reviewed the Stone Brewery Account Policy. The purpose of the Stone Brewery 
Project Fund Policy is to ensure that there are sufficient resources available for annual debt service 
payments and the capital, operational, and administrative costs related to the Stone Brewery 
Facilities and Sites, and to define a threshold on when funds may be used by the Authority to 
support other economic development activities and projects in the City of Richmond. 

Mr. Sledge requested the Board to consider a motion to approve the Stone Brewery Project Fund 
Policy for the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond, Virginia. Ms. Agarwal 
made the motion. Mr. Crooks seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

 
Executive Session: 

Mr. Sledge asked the Board to consider a motion to go into a closed meeting pursuant to 2.2-
3711(A3) and (A29) of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act to discuss the disposition of 
publicly held real property located at 2401 West Leigh Street and contracts involving the 
expenditure of public funds related to such disposition because such discussion in open session 
would adversely affect the bargaining position or negotiating strategy of the Economic 
Development Authority. Mr. Millhiser made the motion. Mr. McCoy seconded the motion. The 
motion passed unanimously.  

Closed session began at 5:39pm and Ms. Chung paused recording. 

Closed session ended at 5:52pm and Ms. Chung resumed recording. 

Section 2.2-3712 of the Code of Virginia requires certification by the Board that a closed meeting 
is conducted in conformity with Virginia law. Following the closed meeting, the Board certified 
that to the best of each member’s knowledge (i) only public matters lawfully exempt from open 
meeting requirements by Virginia law were discussed in the closed meeting; and (ii) only such 
public business matters as were identified in the motion convening the closed meeting were heard, 
discussed or considered by the Board. The certification passed unanimously and was witnessed 
and recorded by Mr. Sledge.  



 
Discussion Items: 

Performance Grant Update – Mr. Leonard Sledge 

Mr. Sledge reviewed the Performance Grant presentation with the Board. 

Update on 2401 West Leigh Street Facility Operations and Maintenance – Ms. Katie 
McConnell 

Ms. McConnell stated that the transition continues to be as smooth as possible.  

 
Report to the Officers: 

Report of the Chairman – Ms. Nupa Agarwal 
 
Ms. Agarwal reported that neither she nor Mr. John Molster have any updates to report.  
 
Report of the Secretary – Mr. Leonard Sledge 
 
Mr. Sledge did not have any updates to report. 
 
Other Business: 

No other business discussed. 
 
Adjournment: 

The meeting adjourned at 6:05pm and Ms. Chung stopped recording. 
        

Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 

Secretary to the meeting 
 
Approved: 
 
 
 
John Molster, Chair 
 
 
 



EDA February Financial Report 

 























Policy Regarding Participation In Meetings By 
Electronic Communication Means 



1 
 

POLICY REGARDING PARTICIPATION IN MEETINGS BY ELECTRONIC 
COMMUNICATION MEANS 

Draft: March 28, 2024 
 

1. Purpose. The purpose of this policy is to comply with the requirements of section 
2.2-3708.3 of the Code of Virginia to allow for and govern participation by one or more Directors 
in meetings of the Board by electronic communication means and to allow for all-virtual public 
meetings, and all proceedings pursuant to this policy shall be performed in accordance with section 
2.2-3708.3 of the Code of Virginia, as that statute may from time to time be amended. 
 
2. Application and Limitations. 
 
 A. This policy shall be applied strictly and uniformly, without exception, to all 
Directors and without regard to the identity of the Director requesting remote participation or the 
matters that will be voted on at the meeting. 
 
 B. Participation by a Director in a meeting by electronic communication means due to 
a personal matter shall be limited each calendar year to two meetings or 25 percent of the meetings 
held per calendar year rounded up to the next whole number, whichever is greater, of the Board or 
the particular committee of the Board, as applicable. 
 
 C. All-virtual public meetings shall not be convened (i) more than two times per 
calendar year or 25 percent of the meetings held per calendar year rounded up to the next whole 
number, whichever is greater, or (ii) consecutively with another all-virtual public meeting. 
 
 D. This policy shall also apply to any committee of the Board. For purposes of a 
committee meeting, the term “Board” when used in this policy means the committee holding the 
meeting in which a Director desires to participate by electronic communication means. For 
purposes of any committee, the term “Chairperson of the Board” means the Chairperson of the 
committee. 
 
 E. When used in this policy, “electronic communication” has the meaning ascribed to 
it by section 2.2-3701 of the Code of Virginia. 
 
3. Participation by Director by Electronic Communication Means.  
 
3.1 Approval Process. 
 

A. No Director may participate in a meeting by electronic communication means 
unless the Director requests, and the Board approves, the participation in accordance with this 
section 3. 
 



2 
 

 B. A Director may request to participate in a meeting by electronic communication 
means if the Director notifies the Chairperson of the Board on or before the day of the meeting 
that the Director is unable to attend due to (i) a personal matter, provided that the Director identifies 
with specificity the nature of the personal matter, (ii) a temporary or permanent disability or other 
medical condition that prevents the Director’s physical attendance, (iii) a family member’s medical 
condition that requires the Director to provide care for such family member, thereby preventing 
the Director’s physical attendance; or (iv) the member’s principal residence is more than 60 miles 
from the meeting location identified in the required notice for such meeting. The Director must 
also notify the Chairperson of the Board of the remote location from which the Director would 
participate by electronic communication means. 
 
 C. The Board may consider a request for participation by electronic communication 
means only if a quorum of the Board is physically assembled at the primary or central meeting 
location. 
 
 D. At the meeting, the Chairperson of the Board shall announce the information 
received pursuant to section 3.1(B) above. If the Director’s request is in all other respects 
compliant with this policy, the Chairperson of the Board shall solicit a motion to approve or 
disapprove the Director’s request from the Directors physically assembled at the primary or central 
meeting location. Upon adoption of a motion to approve the Director’s participation by electronic 
communication means, the Director shall be allowed to participate in the meeting by electronic 
communication means. 
 
3.2. Meeting Minutes.  
 

A. If the Director’s participation by electronic communication means is approved, the 
following shall be recorded in the meeting minutes: (i) the motion; (ii) the vote thereon; (iii) a 
statement (a) of the specific nature of the personal matter, (b) that a temporary or permanent 
disability or other medical condition prevents the Director’s physical attendance, (c) that a family 
member’s medical condition requires the Director to provide care to such family member, thereby 
preventing the Director’s physical attendance, or (d) that the member participated through 
electronic communication means due to the distance between the member’s principal residence 
and the meeting location; and (iv) the remote location from which the Director participated in the 
meeting. 
 
 B. If the Director’s participation by electronic communication means is disapproved, 
whether by adoption of a motion to disapprove or by rejection of a motion to approve, the following 
shall be recorded in the meeting minutes: (i) the motion; (ii) the vote thereon; (iii) a statement (a) 
of the specific nature of the personal matter identified by the Director, (b) that the Director stated 
that a temporary or permanent disability or other medical condition prevented the Director’s 
physical attendance, (c) that a family member’s medical condition required the Director to provide 
care for such family member, thereby preventing the Director’s physical attendance, or (d) that the 
Director sought to participate through electronic communication means due to the distance 



3 
 

between the member’s principal residence and the meeting location; (iv) the remote location from 
which the Director sought to participate in the meeting; and (v) the specific aspect of this policy 
that would be violated by the Director’s proposed participation by electronic communication 
means, as summarized by the Chairperson of the Board. 
 
4. All-Virtual Public Meetings. 
 
4.1 Request. A request to hold an all-virtual meeting may be made to the Chairperson of 
the Board, by staff, or by a Director. The Chairperson and the Executive Director of the Authority 
shall approve or disapprove such request and, if such request is approved, the all-virtual meeting 
must be held in compliance with all other provisions of Chapter 37 of Title 2.2 of the Code of 
Virginia and must comply with all requirements set forth in section 4.2 below. 
 
4.2 Requirements for All-Virtual Public Meetings. 

 
A. An indication of whether the meeting will be an in-person or all-virtual public 

meeting shall be included in the required meeting notice along with a statement notifying the public 
that the method by which the Board chooses to meet shall not be changed unless the Board provides 
a new meeting notice.  

 
B. Public access to the all-virtual public meeting shall be provided via electronic 

communication means. 
 
C. The electronic communication means used shall allow the public to hear all 

members of the Board participating in the all-virtual public meeting and, when audio-visual 
technology is available, to see the members of the Board as well. 

 
D. A phone number or other live contact information shall be provided to alert the 

Board if the audio or video transmission of the meeting provided by the Board fails, the Board 
shall monitor such designated means of communication during the meeting, and the Board shall 
take a recess until public access is restored if the transmission fails for the public. 

 
E. A copy of the proposed agenda and all agenda packets and, unless exempt, all 

materials furnished to Board members for the meeting shall be made available to the public in 
electronic format at the same time that such materials are provided to Board members. 

 
F. The public shall be afforded the opportunity to comment through electronic means, 

including by way of written comments, at those public meetings when public comment is 
customarily received. 

 
G. No more than two members of the Board shall be together in any one remote 

location unless that remote location is open to the public to physically access it. 
 



4 
 

H. If a closed session is held during an all-virtual public meeting, transmission of the 
meeting to the public shall resume before the Board votes to certify the closed meeting. 

 
I. Minutes of all-virtual public meetings held by electronic communication means 

shall be and shall include the fact that the meeting was held by electronic communication means 
and the type of electronic communication means by which the meeting was held. If a member's 
participation from a remote location is disapproved because such participation would violate this 
policy as it applies to all-virtual public meetings, such disapproval shall be recorded in the minutes 
with specificity. 



Operating Account Adjustments Due from 
the City of Richmond 

 



State and Local Performance Grants for PPD 



 
AYES:   NOES:   ABSTAIN:  
      

ADOPTED:  REJECTED:  STRICKEN:  
 
 
 

  
INTRODUCED: February 26, 2024 

 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-064 
 
 
 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Commonwealth’s Development Opportunity Fund Performance Agreement between 
the City of Richmond, PPD Development, LP, the Virginia Economic Development Partnership 
Authority, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of 
providing PPD Development, LP with incentives to establish a bioanalytics laboratory facility at 
737 North 5th Street in the city of Richmond. 

   
 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 
   

 
Approved as to form and legality 

by the City Attorney 
   

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING:  MAR 25 2024 AT 6 P.M. 
 
 
THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 
 
 § 1.   That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, 

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Commonwealth’s Development Opportunity Fund 

Performance Agreement between the City of Richmond, PPD Development, LP, the Virginia 

Economic Development Partnership Authority, and the Economic Development Authority of the 

City of Richmond for the purpose of providing PPD Development, LP with incentives to 

establish a bioanalytics laboratory facility at 737 North 5th Street in the city of Richmond. The 



 2 

Commonwealth’s Development Opportunity Fund Performance Agreement shall be approved as 

to form by the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the form of the document attached to 

this ordinance. 

 § 2.   This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

__________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 
 



1 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

 

COMMONWEALTH’S DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITY FUND 

 

PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 

 

 This PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) made and entered as of the 

____day of ________, 2024, by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA (the 

“Locality”), a municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the “Commonwealth”), 

PPD DEVELOPMENT, LP, a Delaware limited partnership authorized  to transact business in 

the Commonwealth (the “Company”), the VIRGINIA ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

PARTNERSHIP AUTHORITY (“VEDP”), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth, and 

the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, 

VIRGINIA (the “Authority”), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth.   

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

 WHEREAS, the Locality has been awarded a grant of and expects to receive up to 

$151,952 (the “COF Grant”) from the Commonwealth’s Development Opportunity Fund (the 

“Fund”) through VEDP for the purpose of inducing the Company to establish, equip, improve, 

and operate a bioanalytics laboratory facility in the Locality (the “Facility”), thereby making a 

significant Capital Investment, and creating and Maintaining a significant number of New Jobs, 

as such capitalized terms are hereinafter defined;  

 

 WHEREAS, the Locality is willing to provide the funds to the Authority with the 

expectation that the Authority will provide the funds to or for the use of the Company, provided 

that the Company meets certain criteria relating to Capital Investment and New Jobs;  

 

 WHEREAS, the Locality, the Authority, the Company, and VEDP desire to set forth their 

understanding and agreement as to the payout of the COF Grant, the use of the COF Grant 

proceeds, and the obligations of the Company regarding Capital Investment and New Jobs;  

 

 WHEREAS, the establishment, equipping, improvement, and operation of the Facility is 

anticipated to entail a capital expenditure by or on behalf of the Company of approximately 

$4,700,000, of which approximately $3,200,000 will be invested in machinery and tools, 

approximately $500,000 will be invested in furniture, fixtures and business personal property, 

and approximately $1,000,000 will be invested in the renovation and up-fit of the buildings for 

the Facility;  

 

WHEREAS, the establishment, equipping, improvement, and operation of the Facility is 

further anticipated to entail the creation and Maintenance of 506 New Jobs at the Central Virginia 

Facilities, including at least 48 new jobs at the Facility , as hereinafter defined; and 

 

WHEREAS, the stimulation of the additional tax revenue and economic activity to be 

generated by the Capital Investment and New Jobs constitutes a valid public purpose for the 

expenditure of public funds and is the animating purpose for the COF Grant: 

 



2 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises and 

undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 

receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties covenant and agree as 

follows. 

 

Section 1.   Definitions. 

 

For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following 

definitions: 

 

“Baseline Jobs” means the 1,329 full-time jobs at the Central Virginia Facilities as of April 

1, 2021.   

 

“Capital Investment” means a capital expenditure by or on behalf of the Company in 

taxable real property, taxable tangible personal property, or both, at the Facility.  The purchase or 

lease of machinery and tools or furniture, fixtures, and business personal property, including 

under an operating lease, and expected building renovation, improvement, and up-fit by or on 

behalf of the Company or the lessor of the Facility will qualify as Capital Investment. The Capital 

Investment must be in addition to the capital improvements at the Facility as of April 1, 2021.  

 

“Capital Investment Target” means that the Company has made or caused to be made and 

retained Capital Investments of at least $4,700,000.   

 

“Central Virginia Facilities” means the facilities owned or operated by the Company in 

the Locality or in the County, including the Company’s existing facilities in the County, the 

Facility, and a new bioanalytics laboratory to be established by the Company in the County.   

 

“County” means the County of Henrico, Virginia.   

 

“County Performance Agreement” means the Performance Agreement dated as of 

February 1, 2022, among the County, the Company, VEDP, and the Economic Development 

Authority of Henrico County, Virginia. 

 

“Fund” means the Commonwealth’s Development Opportunity Fund.   

 

“Maintain” means that the New Jobs will continue without interruption from the date of 

creation through the date that the achievement of the New Jobs Target is being tested, including 

the Performance Date.  Positions for the New Jobs will be treated as Maintained during periods 

in which such positions are not filled due to (i) temporary reductions in the Company’s 

employment levels (so long as there is active recruitment for open positions), (ii) strikes, and (iii) 

other temporary work stoppages.            

 

“New Job” means new permanent full-time employment of an indefinite duration at the 

Central Virginia Facilities for which the standard fringe benefits are provided by the Company 

for the employee, and for which the Company pays an average annual wage of at least $62,395.   

Average annual wage means the average annual salary of full-time positions at the Central 



3 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

Virginia Facilities determined by dividing total payroll (of a type included in W-2 compensation) 

provided to full-time positions at the Central Virginia Facilities by the number of full-time 

positions at the Central Virginia Facilities.  Each New Job must require a minimum of either (i) 

35 hours of an employee’s time per week for the entire normal year of the Company’s operations, 

which “normal year” must consist of at least 48 weeks, or (ii) 1,680 hours per year.  Seasonal or 

temporary positions, positions created when a job function is shifted from an existing location in 

the Commonwealth (except transfers between Central Virginia Facilities), and positions with 

construction contractors, vendors, suppliers and similar multiplier or spin-off jobs shall not 

qualify as New Jobs.   The New Jobs must be in addition to the Baseline Jobs. 

 

“New Jobs Target” means the Company’s obligation under Section 2(a) of this Agreement 

to create and Maintain at least 506 New Jobs as of the Performance Date over the Baseline Jobs.  

As subsets of the New Jobs Target, the Company has an obligation under Section 2(a) to create 

and Maintain at least 48 New Jobs at the Central Virginia Facilities located in the Locality (the 

“Richmond Minimum New Jobs”); to create and Maintain at least 400 New Jobs at the Central 

Virginia Facilities located in the County (the “Henrico Minimum New Jobs”); and to create and 

Maintain at least 58 New Jobs at the Central Virginia Facilities, which are in addition to the 

Richmond Minimum New Jobs and the Henrico Minimum New Jobs (the “Other New Jobs”).   

The obligation to create and Maintain at least 48 Richmond Minimum New Jobs is the “Richmond 

Minimum New Jobs Target”; the obligation to create and Maintain at least 400 Henrico Minimum 

New Jobs is the “Henrico Minimum New Jobs Target”; and the obligation to create and Maintain 

at least 58 Other New Jobs in addition to 48 Richmond Minimum New Jobs and 400 Henrico 

Minimum New Jobs is the “Other New Jobs Target.”  The New Jobs Target is the same as the 

New Jobs Target set forth in the County Performance Agreement and does not represent a 

duplicate obligation of the Company.   

 

“Performance Date” means December 31, 2024.  If the Locality, in consultation with 

VEDP, deems that good faith and reasonable efforts have been made and are being made by the 

Company to achieve the Targets, on or before the Performance Date the Locality may request an 

extension of the Performance Date by up to 15 months.  Any extension of the Performance Date 

shall require the prior approval of the Company and the Board of Directors of VEDP (the 

“Board”).  If the Performance Date is extended, the Locality shall send written notice of the 

extension to the Authority, the Company and VEDP and the date to which the Performance Date 

has been extended shall be the “Performance Date” for the purposes of this Agreement. 

 

“Performance Report” means a report to be filed by the Company in accordance with 

Section 5.  The “Final Performance Report” is to be filed within 90 days after the Performance 

Date.     

 

“Targets” means the Capital Investment Target and the New Jobs Target, including the 

Richmond Minimum New Jobs Target, the Henrico Minimum New Jobs Target, and the Other 

New Jobs Target, all to be achieved as of the Performance Date. 

 

“Virginia Code” means the Code of Virginia of 1950, as amended.     

 

  



4 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

Section 2.   Targets; Statutory Criteria. 

 

(a) Targets:  The Company will establish, equip, improve, and operate the Facility, 

and achieve the Targets. 

  

(b) Encouragement to Offer New Jobs to Residents of the Commonwealth:  The 

Locality, the Authority, and VEDP hereby strongly encourage the Company to ensure that at least 

30% of the New Jobs are offered to “Residents” of the Commonwealth, as defined in Virginia 

Code Section 58.1-302.  In pertinent part, that definition includes natural persons domiciled in 

Virginia or natural persons who, for an aggregate of more than 183 days of the year, maintained 

a place of abode within the Commonwealth, whether domiciled in the Commonwealth or not. 

 

(c) Prevailing Wage; Unemployment and Poverty Rates:  The average annual wage of 

the New Jobs of at least $62,395 was less than the prevailing average annual wage in the Locality 

of $70,263 at the time of the grant award, but was more than 85% of that wage ($59,724).  The 

Locality is a high-unemployment locality, with an unemployment rate for 2020, which was the  

unemployment rate at the time of the grant award, of 8.8% as compared to the 2020 statewide 

unemployment rate of 6.2%.  The Locality is a high-poverty locality, with a poverty rate for 2020, 

which was the poverty rate at the time of the grant award, of 17.9% as compared to the 2020 

statewide poverty rate of 9.2%. 

 

(d) Disclosure of Political Contributions:    The Company acknowledges that the name 

of the Company will be shared by VEDP with the Governor of Virginia, and any campaign 

committee or political action committee associated with the Governor.  The Company 

acknowledges that within 18 months of the date of this Agreement, the Governor, his campaign 

committee, and his political action committee will submit to the Virginia Conflict of Interest and 

Ethics Advisory Council a report listing any contribution, gift, or other item with a value greater 

than $100 provided by the Company to the Governor, his campaign committee, or his political 

action committee, respectively, during the period from the date of the Company’s application for 

the COF Grant through the one-year period immediately after the date of this Agreement.   

 

 (e) Support for Virginia’s and Locality’s Economic Development Efforts:  

Recognizing that it is in the best interest of all parties for the Commonwealth and the Locality to 

achieve sustained economic growth, the parties will periodically engage with one another to 

advise on economic development strategies and initiatives for the Commonwealth and the 

Locality, such as promoting the attributes of the Commonwealth and the Locality as places to do 

business, or highlighting important industry trends and/or business development opportunities 

that the Commonwealth or the Locality may wish to pursue.  Such engagement would include the 

Company’s participation in occasional business retention and expansion visits from VEDP 

personnel, as deemed appropriate based on the project parameters and nature of the incentives 

provided to the Company. 

Section 3. Disbursement of COF Grant.   

 

 (a) General Provisions:  The disbursement of the COF Grant proceeds to the 

Company will serve as an inducement to the Company to achieve the Targets.   

 



5 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

 The COF Grant is to be allocated as: 

 

▪ 10% ($15,195) for the Capital Investment Target,  

▪ 80% ($121,562) for the Richmond Minimum New Jobs Target, and  

▪ 10% ($15,195) for the Other New Jobs Target.   

 

 The statutory minimum requirements for a COF Grant in the Locality require that the 

Company (1) make or cause to be made and retained a Capital Investment of at least $1,500,000 

and (2) create and Maintain at least 15 New Jobs at the Central Virginia Facilities located in the 

Locality (the “Statutory Minimum Requirements”).   

 

 The COF Grant proceeds shall be retained in the Fund until needed for disbursement or 

the COF Grant is withdrawn in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.   

 

(b) Disbursement of the COF Grant:  Within 90 days after the Performance Date, the 

Company will deliver the Final Performance Report.  Through this report, the Company will 

provide notice and evidence satisfactory to the Locality, the Authority and VEDP of the amount 

of Capital Investments made or caused to be made and retained, and the number of Richmond 

Minimum New Jobs and Other New Jobs created and Maintained by the Company as of the 

Performance Date.  The Final Performance Report will be subject to verification by the Locality 

and VEDP.   

 

Upon such verification, the amount of the COF Grant proceeds to be disbursed to the 

Company, if any, shall be determined as follows:  

 

(i) If Statutory Minimum Requirements Not Met: If, as of the Performance 

Date, the Company has not achieved both of the Statutory Minimum 

Requirements, the Company will not receive any of the proceeds of the COF 

Grant.   

 

(ii) If Targets Met: If, as of the Performance Date, the Company has achieved 

the Capital Investment Target, the Richmond Minimum New Jobs Target and the 

Other New Jobs Target, the Company will receive all $151,952 of the proceeds of 

the COF Grant. 

 

(iii) If Statutory Minimum Requirements Met, but Targets Not Met:  If, as of the 

Performance Date, the Company has achieved both of the Statutory Minimum 

Requirements, but has not achieved the full Capital Investment Target, the full 

Richmond Minimum New Jobs Target, and the full Other New Jobs Target, the 

Company will qualify for a reduced disbursement of the COF Grant, reflecting a 

proportional amount of the Target or Targets for which there is a shortfall.  For 

example, if as of the Performance Date, only $4,230,000 of the Capital Investment 

has been retained (reflecting achievement of 90% of the Capital Investment 

Target), has fully achieved the 48 Richmond New Jobs Target, but only 29 Other 

New Jobs have been created and Maintained (reflecting achievement of 50% of 

the Other New Jobs Target), the Company will receive $13,675.50 (reflecting 90% 



6 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

of the $15,195 of the COF Grant allocated to the Capital Investment Target), plus 

$121,562 (reflecting 100% of the $121,562 of the COF Grant allocated to the 

Richmond Minimum New Jobs Target, plus $7,597.50 (reflecting 50% of the 

$15,195 of the COF Grant allocated to the Other New Jobs Target), for a total of 

$142,835.  These amounts reflect the percentages of the shortfall from the Capital 

Investment Target, the Richmond Minimum New Jobs Target and the Other New 

Jobs Target, each such shortfall multiplied by the portion of the COF Grant 

proceeds available to the Company allocated to that Target. 

 

 Within 30 days after verification of the Final Performance Report, if any amount of COF 

Grant proceeds are available for disbursement to the Company, as determined in accordance with 

the foregoing calculations, VEDP will disburse that amount to the Locality.  Within 30 days after 

receipt of such amount, “receipt” meaning both acceptance of the COF Grant proceeds by the City 

Council of the City of Richmond, Virginia (“Council”) and the appropriation by Council of such 

COF Grant proceeds to the Authority, the Locality will disburse such COF Grant proceeds to the 

Authority.  Within 30 days after receipt of such amount, the Authority will disburse such COF 

Grant proceeds to the Company. 

 

 If any amount of COF Grant proceeds have not been earned by the Company, the amount 

not disbursed will be retained in the Fund and will be available for other economic development 

projects.   

 

 Any consequences for failing to achieve the Henrico Minimum New Jobs Target will be 

addressed in the County Performance Agreement.  For the purposes of this Agreement, if the 

Company has achieved fewer than 25 Henrico Minimum New Jobs, in calculating the Other New 

Jobs, the Company may count New Jobs in the Locality over 15 as if such New Jobs were Henrico 

Minimum New Jobs, toward the calculation the Other New Jobs. 

  

(c) Use of the COF Grant Proceeds:  The Company will use the COF Grant proceeds 

to pay or reimburse the cost of renovation or up-fit for publicly or privately owned buildings for 

the Facility,  as permitted by Section 2.2-115(D) of the Virginia Code.     

 

Section 4. Break-Even Point; State and Local Incentives. 

 

(a) State-Level Incentives:  VEDP has estimated that the Commonwealth will reach 

its “break-even point” by the Performance Date.  The break-even point compares new revenues 

realized as a result of the Capital Investment at the Facility and New Jobs at the Central Virginia 

Facilities with the Commonwealth’s expenditures on discretionary incentives, including but not 

limited to the COF Grant.  With regard to the Facility, the Commonwealth expects to provide 

discretionary incentives in the following amounts: 

 

Category of Incentive: Total Amount 

  

COF Grant $151,952 

Enterprise Zone Real Property Investment Grant (“EZRPIG”) 

(Estimated) 

41,985 



7 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

Enterprise Zone Job Creation Grant (“EZJCG”) (Estimated) 176,000 

VEDP Talent Accelerator Program (“VTAP”) (Approximate 

Value) 

135,000 

 

The proceeds of the COF Grant shall be used for the purposes described in Section 3(c). 

The proceeds of the EZRPIG and the EZJCG may be used by the Company for any lawful 

purpose. The VTAP represents the value to the Company of workforce development services 

expected to be provided by VEDP to the Company for recruitment and training.   

 

(b) Local-Level Incentives:  The Locality and the Authority expect to provide the 

following incentives, as matching grants or otherwise, for the Facility by the Performance Date: 

 

Category of Incentive: Total 

Amount 

  

BPOL Tax Exemption (Estimated) $76,752 

Performance-Based Cash Grant 75,200 

  

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company and 

VEDP acknowledge and agree that the value of the BPOL Tax Exemption is based upon the 

estimated value of the availability of that incentive to the Company and is conditioned upon the 

application for, approval of, and utilization of such incentives by the Company. The Company 

and VEDP further acknowledge and agree that the Locality shall be deemed to have met its 

obligations related thereto and met its local match requirement in the amount corresponding 

thereto, regardless of whether the Company applies for, is approved for, or utilizes the incentives.   

The Company and VEDP further acknowledge that the Performance-Based Cash Grant has a 

maximum value $75,200 and will be governed by a separate agreement between the Company, 

the Locality, and the Authority.  Under no circumstance will the Locality be obligated to make 

any additional grant to the Company of the difference between the estimated value of the Local-

Level Incentives and the actual amount of such incentives received by the Company or in any 

amount whatsoever.  

The BPOL Tax Exemption will reflect cost savings to the Company.  The proceeds of the 

Performance-Based Cash Grant may be used by the Company for any lawful purpose.   

 

(c) Other Incentives: This Agreement relates solely to the COF Grant.  The 

qualification for, and payment of all State-Level Incentives and Local-Level Incentives, except 

for the COF Grant, will be governed by separate arrangements between the Company and the 

entities offering the other incentives.   

 

Section 5. Company Reporting.   

 

(a) Performance Reporting:   The Company shall provide, at the Company’s expense, 

in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, detailed Performance Reports satisfactory to the 

Locality, the Authority and VEDP of the Company’s progress on the Targets.  The Performance 

Reports are due by each April 1, commencing April 1, 2024, reflecting the Company’s progress 

toward the Targets as of the prior December 31. Further, the Company shall provide such 



8 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

Performance Reports at such other times as the Locality, the Authority or VEDP may reasonably 

require; with such reports not being requested more than once during any six-month period.   

 

(b) Final Performance Report: The Company shall provide, at the Company’s 

expense, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, a detailed Final Performance Report 

satisfactory to the Locality, the Authority and VEDP of the Company’s achievement of the 

Targets as of the Performance Date.  This Performance Date Report shall be filed within 90 days 

after the Performance Date.  

 

 Should the Company be unable to file the Final Performance Report within the 90-day 

timeframe, the Company may request a 60-day delay in filing the Final Performance Report.  

VEDP will require a $3,000 fee, payable to VEDP, to process the request for the filing delay.  

Should the Company not file the Final Performance Report within the 90-day window nor request 

a filing delay (including payment of the required fee), or if the Company requests a filing delay 

but does not file the Final Performance Report prior to the new filing deadline, VEDP will 

withhold any COF Grant payment that might otherwise be due and all rights of the Company 

under this Agreement will automatically terminate. 

 

(c) Virginia Corporate Income Tax Information:  With each such Performance Report 

or Final Performance Report, the Company shall report to VEDP the amount paid by the Company 

(or for a pass-through entity, by its shareholders, members or partners) in the prior calendar year 

in Virginia corporate (or for a pass-through entity, personal) income tax.  VEDP hereby represents 

to the Company that it considers such information to be confidential proprietary information that 

is exempt from public disclosure under the Virginia Freedom of Information Act and that such 

information will be used by VEDP solely in calculating aggregate return on invested capital 

analyses for purposes of gauging the overall effectiveness of economic development incentives.  

 

Section 6. Verification of Targets. 

 

(a) Verification of Capital Investment: The Company hereby authorizes the 

Locality, including the Locality’s Department of Finance, to release to VEDP the Company’s real 

estate tax, business personal property tax and machinery and tools tax information.  Such 

information shall be marked and considered confidential and proprietary and shall be used by 

VEDP solely for verifying satisfaction of the Capital Investment Target.  If the Locality or the 

Locality’s Department of Finance should require additional documentation or consents from the 

Company to access such information, the Company shall promptly provide, at the Company’s 

expense, such additional documentation or consents as the Locality or VEDP may request.  In 

accordance with Virginia Code Section 58.1-3122.3, VEDP is entitled to receive the Company’s 

real estate tax, business personal property tax and machinery and tools tax information from the 

Locality’s Department of Finance.   

 

(b) Verification of New Jobs and Wages:  The Company must submit a copy of its 

four most recent Employer’s Quarterly Tax Reports (Form FC-20) for the Central Virginia 

Facilities with the Virginia Employment Commission with the Final Performance Report.  The 

forms shall be marked and considered confidential and proprietary and shall be used by VEDP 

solely for verifying satisfaction of the New Jobs Target.  In accordance with Virginia Code 



9 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

Section 60.2-114, VEDP is entitled to receive the Company’s employment level and wage 

information from the Virginia Employment Commission. 

 

The Company agrees that it will report to the Virginia Employment Commission with 

respect to its employees at a facility-level, rather than at the company-level.   

 

(c) Additional Documentation:  In addition to the verification data described above, 

in the sole discretion of the Locality, the Authority or VEDP, the Locality, the Authority or VEDP, 

may each require such other documentation or audits as may be required to properly verify the 

Capital Investment or New Jobs. 

 

Section 7. Possible Termination of this Agreement and Redeployment of COF Grant 

Proceeds.  If the Locality, the Authority or VEDP shall determine at any time prior to the 

Performance Date that the Company is unable or unwilling to meet and Maintain its Targets by 

and through the Performance Date, and if the Locality, the Authority or VEDP shall have 

promptly notified the Company of such determination, this Agreement will be terminated, no 

further disbursements of the COF Grant proceeds will be made to the Company, and the amount 

not disbursed will be retained in the Fund and made available for other economic development 

projects.  Such a determination will be based on such circumstances as a filing by or on behalf of 

the Company under Chapter 7 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, the liquidation of the Company, an 

abandonment of the Facility by the Company or other similar significant event that demonstrates 

that the Company will be unable or is unwilling to satisfy the Targets for the COF Grant.  The 

Locality, the Authority, and VEDP each acknowledge and agree that: (i) while the Company is 

entering into this Agreement in good faith based upon current business plans, it is making no 

representation or warranty with respect to achieving the Targets set forth herein; and (ii) the 

termination of this Agreement, as set forth in this Section 7, including the payment of any 

associated fees and costs described in this Agreement, shall be their sole and exclusive remedy 

with respect to any claim arising from a breach of this Agreement by the Company. 

 

 

Section 8.   Notices.  Formal notices and communications between the parties shall be given 

either by (i) personal service, (ii) delivery by a reputable document delivery service that provides 

a receipt showing date and time of delivery, (iii) mailing utilizing a certified or first class mail 

postage prepaid service of the United States Postal Service that provides a receipt showing date 

and time of delivery, or (iv) delivery by electronic mail (email) with transmittal confirmation and 

confirmation of delivery, so long as a hard copy is sent the same day in one of the preceding 

manners, addressed as noted below.  Notices and communications personally delivered or 

delivered by document delivery service shall be deemed effective upon receipt. Notices and 

communications mailed shall be deemed effective on the second business day following deposit 

in the United States mail.  Notices and communications delivered by email shall be deemed 

effective the next business day, not less than 24 hours, following the date of transmittal and 

confirmation of delivery to the intended recipient.  Such written notices and communications shall 

be addressed to:   

 

  



10 

PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

if to the Company, to: with a copy to: 

PPD Development, LP  

929 North Front Street 

Wilmington, NC 28401 

Attention:  General Counsel 

PPD Development, LP 

929 North Front Street 

Wilmington, NC 28401 

Email: seth.morris@ppd.com  

Attention: Seth Morris, Dir.-Lab Ops 

if to the Locality, to: with a copy to: 

City of Richmond, Virginia 

900 E. Broad St., Suite 201 

Richmond, Virginia  23219 

Email:  rvamayor@richmondgov.com 

Attention:  Mayor  

City of Richmond, Virginia 

900 E. Broad St., Suite 400 

Richmond, Virginia  23219 

Email:  bonnie.ashley@rva.gov 

Attention: City Attorney 

if to the Authority, to: with a copy to: 

Economic Development Authority of the City 

of Richmond, Virginia 

1500 East Main Street 

Suite 400 

Richmond, Virginia 23219 

Email: richmondeda@outlook.com 

Attention: Chair, Board of Directors  

Economic Development Authority of the City 

of Richmond, Virginia 

1500 East Main Street 

Suite 400 

Richmond, Virginia 23219 

Email: sam.earl@rva.gov 

Attention: Management Analyst, Senior 

if to VEDP, to: with a copy to: 

Virginia Economic Development Partnership 

One James Center, Suite 900 

901 East Cary Street 

Richmond, Virginia  23219 

Email:  ceo@vedp.org 

Attention:  President and CEO 

Virginia Economic Development Partnership 

One James Center, Suite 900 

901 East Cary Street 

Richmond, Virginia  23219 

Email:  generalcounsel@vedp.org 

Attention:  General Counsel 

Section 9. Miscellaneous. 

(a) Entire Agreement; Amendments:  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement

among the parties hereto as to the COF Grant and may not be amended or modified, except in 

writing, signed by each of the parties hereto.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to 

the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  The Company may 

not assign its rights and obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the 

Locality, the Authority and VEDP.   

(b) Governing Law; Venue:  This Agreement is made, and is intended to be performed,

in the Commonwealth and shall be construed and enforced by the laws of the Commonwealth.  



11 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

Jurisdiction and venue for any litigation arising out of or involving this Agreement shall lie in the 

Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, and such litigation shall be brought only in such court. 

 

 (c) Counterparts:  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument.   

 

 (d) Severability:  If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be 

unenforceable, invalid or illegal, then the enforceability, validity and legality of the remaining 

provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be 

restated to reflect the original intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with 

applicable law.   

 

 (e) Attorney’s Fees:  Attorney’s fees shall be paid by the party incurring such fees.   

 

(f) Force Majeure: Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Agreement, if 

the Company does not achieve a Target or take any action required under this Agreement because 

of an “Event of Force Majeure” (as defined below), the time for achieving the applicable Target 

or taking such action will be extended day-for-day by the delay in meeting the applicable Target 

or taking such action caused by the Event of Force Majeure.  “Event of Force Majeure” means 

without limitation, any of the following: acts of God; strikes, lockouts or other industrial 

disturbances; act of public enemies; orders of any kind of the government of the United States of 

America or of the Commonwealth or any of their respective departments, agencies, political 

subdivisions or officials, or any civil or military authority; insurrections; riots; epidemics; 

pandemics; landslides; lightning; earthquakes; fires; hurricanes; tornadoes; storms; floods; 

washouts; droughts; arrests; restraint of government and people; civil disturbances; explosions; 

breakage or accident to machinery, transmission pipes or canals not caused by the Company; 

partial or entire failure of utilities; or any other cause or event not reasonably within the control 

of the Company. 

 

 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]  



12 

PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Performance 

Agreement as of the date first written above. 

CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 

By 

     Name:  

     Title:     

Date: _________________________ 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  

AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, 

VIRGINIA 

By 

     Name:  

     Title:     

Date: _________________________ 

PPD DEVELOPMENT, LP 

By 

     Name:  

     Title:     

Date: _________________________ 

VIRGINIA ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT PARTNERSHIP 

AUTHORITY 

By 

     Name:  

     Title:     

Date: _________________________ 

Exhibit A: Performance Report Form 

Exhibit B: Final Performance Report Form 

Approved as to form:

___________________
Deputy City Attorney



13 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

Exhibit A 

PERFORMANCE REPORT 

COMMONWEALTH’S DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITY FUND 
 

PROJECT SUMMARY: 

 

Project  

Location  

Amount of Grant  

Performance Reporting Period  

Performance Date  

 

PROJECT PERFORMANCE4: 

 

Performance Measurement Target As of _______ % Complete 

    

Total New Jobs (over ______ 

baseline) 

   

Richmond Minimum New 

Jobs (over ___ baseline)1 

   

Confidence level target will be 

reached by Performance Date shown 

above (check one) 

High 

☐ 

Moderate 

☐ 

Low 

☐ 

Other New Jobs (over ___ 

baseline and Richmond 

Minimum New Jobs and 

Henrico Minimum New Jobs)1
 

   

Confidence level target will be 

reached by Performance Date shown 

above (check one) 

High 

☐ 

Moderate 

☐ 

Low 

☐ 

Capital Investment (provide 

breakdown below)2 

   

Confidence level target will be 

reached by Performance Date shown 

above (check one) 

High 

☐ 

Moderate 

☐ 

Low 

☐ 

Average Annual Wage   N/A 
Confidence level target will be 

reached by Performance Date shown 

above (check one) 

High 

☐ 

Moderate 

☐ 

Low 

☐ 

Standard Fringe Benefits 

(check one) 

Yes 

☐ 

No 

☐ 
N/A 

Virginia Corporate Income 

Tax Paid in Prior Calendar 

Year3 

$ 

1Data will be verified using Virginia Employment Commission records.  
2 Data will be verified with locality records. 
3This confidential information is protected from disclosure pursuant to § 2.2-3705.6 of FOIA. 
4Final, actual performance will be reported on VEDP’s public reporting website. 



14 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

 

Capital Investment Breakdown Amount 

  

Land $ 

Land Improvements  

New Construction or Expansion  

Renovation or Building Up-fit  

Production Machinery and Tools  

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment  

Other  

         Total $                         

 

COMMENTS: 

 

Discuss project status, including the current level of new jobs and capital investment, progress 

on targets, changes or likely changes in project’s nature that may impact achievement of targets, 

and other information relevant to project performance.  If the project is not on track to meet 

targets, please provide an explanation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO BE CERTIFIED BY AN OFFICER OF THE COMPANY: 

 

I certify that I have examined this report and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true, 

correct, and complete. 

 

Company:           

 

Submitted By:          
  Signature of Official      

 

Name:          
 Print Name 

  

 Title:         

 

Date: _________________________ 

 

Please return to: 

 

Kim Ellett, Director of Compliance, Virginia Economic Development Partnership, 

804.545.5618, kellett@vedp.org 

mailto:kellett@vedp.org


15 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

 

Exhibit B 

FINAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 

COMMONWEALTH’S DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITY FUND 
 

  
 

PROJECT SUMMARY: 
 

Project  

Location  

Amount of Grant  

Performance Date  
 

 

PROJECT PERFORMANCE:1 

 

Performance Measurement Target As of ________, 

20__ 

% Complete 

    

Total New Jobs (over       

baseline)2 

   

Richmond Minimum New 

Jobs 

   

Other New Jobs    

Capital Investment (provide 

breakdown below)3 

   

Average Annual Wage   N/A 

Standard Fringe Benefits  

Virginia Corporate Income 

Tax Paid in Prior Calendar 

Year4 

$ 

1Final, actual performance will be reported on VEDP’s public reporting website. 
2 Attach the company’s four most recent Quarterly Tax Reports (Form FC-20) for the Central Virginia Facilities 

filed with the Virginia Employment Commission. 
3 Data will be verified using records from the Commissioner of the Revenue and invoices. 
4This confidential information is protected from disclosure pursuant to § 2.2-3705.6 of FOIA 
 

 

Capital Investment Breakdown Amount 

  

Land $ 

Land Improvements  

New Construction or Expansion  

Renovation or Building Up-fit  

Production Machinery and Tools  

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment  

Other  



16 

 
PPD Development COF Performance Agreement  012624 

         Total $                         
 

LOCAL MATCH: 

 

Goal  

Actual  

 

 

COMMENTS: 

 

Discuss Project status or the importance of the Project to the locality and region. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO BE CERTIFIED BY AN OFFICER OF THE COMPANY: 

 

I certify that I have examined this report and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true, 

correct, and complete. 

 

Company:            

 

Submitted By:          
  Signature of Official      

 

Name:          
 Print Name 

  

 Title:         

 

Date: _________________________ 

 

 

 

Please return to: 

 

Kim Ellett, Director of Compliance, Virginia Economic Development Partnership, 

804.545.5618, kellett@vedp.org 

 

mailto:kellett@vedp.org


 
AYES:   NOES:   ABSTAIN:  
      

ADOPTED:  REJECTED:  STRICKEN:  
 
 
 

  
INTRODUCED: February 26, 2024 

 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE No. 2024-065 
 
 
 

To authorize the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, to 
execute a Performance Agreement between the City of Richmond, PPD Development, LP, and 
the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for the purpose of providing a 
grant to PPD Development, LP to establish, equip, and operate a new bioanalytics laboratory at 
737 North 5th Street in the city of Richmond. 

   
 

Patron – Mayor Stoney 
   

 
Approved as to form and legality 

by the City Attorney 
   

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING:  MAR 25 2024 AT 6 P.M. 
 
 
THE CITY OF RICHMOND HEREBY ORDAINS: 
 
 § 1.   That the Chief Administrative Officer, for and on behalf of the City of Richmond, 

be and is hereby authorized to execute a Performance Agreement between the City of Richmond, 

PPD Development, LP, and the Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond for 

the purpose of providing a grant to PPD Development, LP to establish, equip, and operate a 

bioanalytics laboratory at 737 North 5th Street in the city of Richmond. The Performance 



 2 

Agreement shall be approved as to form by the City Attorney and shall be substantially in the 

form of the document attached to this ordinance. 

 § 2.   This ordinance shall be in force and effect upon adoption. 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

__________________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 
 



 

Page 1 of 12 
 

PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 
 
 This PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) made and entered this ____ 
day of ________, 2024, by and among the CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA (the “City”), a 
municipal corporation of the Commonwealth of Virginia; PPD DEVELOPMENT LP, a 
Delaware limited partnership authorized to transact business in the Commonwealth (“the 
Company”); and the ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
RICHMOND, VIRGINIA (the “Authority”), a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of 
Virginia.  
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Company intends to establish, equip, and operate a bioanalytics laboratory 
Facility (as defined below) in the city of Richmond, thereby making a significant Capital 
Investment and creating and Maintaining a significant number of New Jobs, as such capitalized 
terms are hereinafter defined; 
 
WHEREAS, the City desires to provide to the Company an economic development monetary 
grant (“Grant”) for the purpose of inducing the Company to establish, equip, and operate a 
bioanalytics laboratory at the Facility; 
 
WHEREAS, the City is willing to provide the funds to the Authority with the expectation that the 
Authority will provide the funds to or for the use of the Company, provided that the Company 
meets certain criteria relating to the Capital Investment and the New Jobs in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement; 
 
WHEREAS, the leasing, equipping, improving, and operating of a bioanalytics laboratory at the 
Facility will entail a Capital Investment of $4,700,000 of which not less than $3,000,000 will be 
in locally taxable real property improvements and not less than $1,700,000 will be in locally 
taxable Tangible Personal Property; 
 
WHEREAS, the leasing, equipping, improving, and operating of the Company’s bioanalytics 
laboratory at the Facility will entail the creation of not less than 48 New Jobs by the end of the 
Performance Period; 
 
WHEREAS, the City, the Authority, and the Company desire to set forth their understanding and 
agreement as to the payout of the Grant, the use of the Grant Funds, the obligations of the Company 
regarding the Grant, the Capital Investment, and the New Job creation; 
 
WHEREAS, the City and the Authority have determined that the Company’s establishing, 
equipping, improving, and operating a bioanalytics laboratory at the Facility will result in 
substantial benefits to the welfare of the city and its inhabitants; is in the public interest; and serves 
governmental interests, including but not limited to an increase in real estate and Tangible Personal 
Property tax receipts and job creation; 
 



 

Page 2 of 12 
 

WHEREAS, the stimulation of additional tax revenue and economic activity to be generated by 
the Capital Investment and New Jobs constitute a valid public purpose for the expenditure of public 
funds; 
 
WHEREAS, the City is authorized by Section 15.2-953 of the Code of Virginia and other laws, 
and the Authority is authorized by the Industrial Development and Revenue Bond Act, contained 
in Chapter 49, Title 15.2 of the Code of Virginia and other laws to perform the activities 
contemplated in this Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, this Agreement sets forth the understanding of the parties concerning the Company’s 
obligations, the Authority’s obligations, and the incentives offered by the City, subject to the 
approval of the Authority’s Board of Directors and the Richmond City Council, and subject to 
annual appropriation. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual benefits, promises, and 
undertakings of the parties to this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows. 
 
Section 1. Definitions. 
 
For the purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following definitions: 
 
 “Capital Investment” means a capital expenditure by or on behalf of the Company in 
locally taxable real property, Tangible Personal Property, or both, at the Facility. The purchase or 
lease of machinery and tools or furniture, fixtures, and business personal property, including under 
an operating lease, and expected building renovation, improvement, and upfit by or on behalf of 
the Company or the lessor of the Facility will qualify as Capital Investment, so long as it is taxable 
by the City. The Capital Investment must be in addition to the capital improvements at the Facility 
as of April 1, 2021.  
 

“Facility” means the real and personal property located at 737 N 5th Street (Tax Map Parcel 
No. N0000023001). 
 

“Maintain” means that the New Jobs will continue without interruption from the date of 
creation through the Performance Period. Positions for the New Jobs will be treated as Maintained 
during periods in which such positions are not filled due to (i) temporary reductions in the 
Company’s employment levels (so long as there is active recruitment for open positions), (ii) 
strikes, and (iii) other temporary work stoppages. 

 
“New Job” means new permanent full-time employment of an indefinite duration at the 

Facility for which the standard fringe benefits are provided by the Company for the employee, and 
for which the Company pays an average annual wage of at least $62,395. Average annual wage 
means the average annual salary of full-time positions at the Facility determined by dividing total 
payroll (of a type included in W-2 compensation) provided to full-time positions at the Facility by 
the number of full-time positions at the Facility. Each New Job must require a minimum of either 
(i) 35 hours of an employee’s time per week for the entire normal year of the Company’s 



 

Page 3 of 12 
 

operations, which “normal year” must consist of at least 48 weeks, or (ii) 1,680 hours per year.  
Seasonal or temporary positions, positions with construction contractors, vendors, suppliers, and 
similar multiplier or spin-off jobs shall not qualify as New Jobs. 
 

“Performance Date” means December 31, 2024.If the Locality, in consultation with the 
Authority, deems that good faith and reasonable efforts have been made and are being made by 
the Company to achieve the Targets, on or before the Performance Date the Company may request 
an extension of the Performance Date by up to 15 months. Any extension of the Performance Date 
shall require the prior approval of the Locality and the Authority. The Locality shall send written 
notice of the extension to the Authority and the Company and the date to which the Performance 
Date has been extended shall be the “Performance Date” for the purposes of this Agreement. 

 
“Performance Period” means the period of time beginning April 1, 2021 and ending on the 

Performance Date.  
 

“Tangible Personal Property” means all personal property not classified as intangible 
personal property, merchants’ capital, or daily rental property as defined by Code of Virginia §§ 
58.1-1100 and 58.1-3510 and taxable by the City of Richmond, Virginia. 

 
“Targets” means the Company’s obligations to make the Capital Investment at the Facility 

within the timeframes set forth in this Agreement. 
 

Section 2. Targets. 
 
2.1 Capital Investment Target. The Company shall make a minimum Capital Investment of 
$4,700,000, in which a minimum of $3,000,000 will be in locally taxable real property 
improvements and a minimum of $1,700,000 will be in locally taxable Tangible Personal Property.  
 
2.2 New Jobs. The Company shall create and Maintain at least 48 New Jobs by the 
Performance Date.  
 
Section 3.       Company Reporting 
 
The Company shall provide reporting, at the Company’s expense and in a form satisfactory to the 
City and the Authority of the Company’s progress toward meeting the Targets. Such reporting 
shall include a certification by a Certified Public Accountant licensed in the Commonwealth of 
Virginia that the Capital Investment has been made in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement. Together with documentation acceptable to the City in the City’s sole discretion 
detailing such Capital Investment. The Company shall also certify and attest to the creation of New 
Jobs during the reporting period in a form acceptable to the City in the City’s sole discretion. The 
Performance Reports are due annually by April 1, reflecting the Company’s progress toward the 
Targets as of the prior December 31. 
 
Section 4. Disbursement of Grant. 
 



Page 4 of 12 

4.1 Grant Amount. The City shall, through the Authority, provide the Company with an 
incentive in the form of an economic development grant in a total amount of $75,200 (the “Grant”) 

4.2 Payment of Grant. The City, through the Authority, shall pay the Grant in one lump sum 
after the Performance Date in accordance with section 4.2.2 below. 

4.2.1 Time of Payment. The Grant will be paid only upon confirmation by the City that the 
Company has achieved the Capital Investment and New Jobs targets and is current on all required 
taxes, licenses, and other legal obligations. 

4.2.2 Certification of Performance Requirements. The Company must request payment of the 
Grant in writing within 90 days of the performance date. Such request must include a certification 
by a Certified Public Accountant licensed in the Commonwealth of Virginia that the Capital 
Investment has been made in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, together with 
documentation acceptable to the City in the City’s sole discretion detailing such Capital 
Investment. The Company shall also certify and attest to the creation of at least 48 New Jobs and 
in a form acceptable to the City in the City’s sole discretion. Once the Company’s request in 
writing has been received by the City and the City has approved the certifications and related 
documentation, the City shall, within 30 days, request the Authority to provide the Company with 
the Grant.  

4.2.3 Forfeiture of Grant. Should the Company fail to meet the performance requirements 
contained in section 4.2.1 or to adequately certify or document such performance pursuant to 
section 4.2.2, the Company will be deemed to have forfeited the Grant. Upon such forfeiture, this 
Agreement shall terminate, and the City and the Authority will have no obligation to the Company 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

Section 5. Administration of Grant. 

5.1 The City agrees to transfer to the Authority, as and when appropriated by the City Council, 
the funds necessary for the Authority to meet its obligations under the Agreement relating to the 
Grant.  No administrative fees or expenses shall be paid by the City. 

5.2        The Authority’s obligation to undertake the activities herein is specially conditioned upon 
the City providing funding on a timely basis; provided, however, the City’s obligation is subject 
to appropriation by the City Council and availability of funds. 

5.3 The Authority agrees to provide the City’s Chief Administrative Officer, or the designee 
thereof, with copies of all documents related to this Agreement and will keep the Chief 
Administrative Officer fully and timely informed of all matters related to the Agreement. 

5.4 The Authority agrees that all funds transferred by the City to the Authority for the Grant 
shall be deposited by the Authority within a Project Fund, to be used only to satisfy the obligations 
contained in this Agreement related to the Grants.   



Page 5 of 12 

5.5 It is the intent of the parties not to impose upon the Authority any responsibility, duty or 
obligation other than what may be required to implement the Grant.  Accordingly, Authority does 
not assume any responsibility or liability whatsoever except as specifically stated herein.  If 
litigation involving the Grant is initiated or expected to be filed against the Authority, the Authority 
shall immediately notify the City Attorney and Chief Administrative Officer. 

5.6 The Authority shall keep records of its financial transactions, if any, related to the 
Agreement in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  The City Auditor or a 
designee thereof may at any time audit the financial transactions undertaken under this Agreement. 

5.7 The Authority shall not be required to furnish the City with surety. 

Section 6. Representations.  

6.1 The Company is empowered to enter into this Agreement, to be bound hereby, and to 
perform according to the terms hereof. 

6.2 Any and all actions necessary to enable the Company to enter into this Agreement, and to 
be bound hereby, have been duly taken. 

6.3 The person or persons executing or attesting the execution of this Agreement on behalf of 
the Company has or have been duly authorized and empowered to so execute or attest. 

6.4 The execution of this Agreement on behalf of the Company will bind and obligate the 
Company to the extent provided by the terms hereof. 

6.5 There exists no litigation pending against the Company or to the Company’s actual 
knowledge threatened, which if determined adversely, would materially and adversely affect the 
ability of the Company to carry out its obligations under this Agreement or the transactions 
contemplated hereunder 

Section 7       Possible Termination of this Agreement. 

7.1 Events of Termination.  Each of the following will constitute a termination of this 
Agreement (each an “Event of Termination”): 

7.1.1 Failure to make a minimum Capital Investment of $4,230,000 (reflecting achievement of 
less than 90% of the Capital Investment Target) by the Performance Date 

7.1.2   Failure to create and Maintain at least 43 New Jobs (reflecting achievement of less than 
90% of the New Jobs Target) by the Performance Date 

7.1.3   Any court of competent jurisdiction enters an order, judgment, or decree approving a 
petition seeking reorganization of the Company or all or a substantial part of the assets of Company 



Page 6 of 12 

or any guarantor of the Company or appointing a receiver, sequestrator, trustee or liquidator of the 
Company, or any guarantor of the Company or any of their property and such order, judgment or 
decree continues unstayed and in effect for at least 60 Days. 

7.1.4   The Company (i) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (ii) is adjudicated 
as either bankrupt or insolvent, (iii) files a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or a petition or an 
answer seeking reorganization or an arrangement with creditors, (iv) either (a) takes advantage of 
any bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or 
(b) admits the material allegations of a petition filed against the Company in any proceedings under
such a law or (v) any guarantor of the Company takes action for the purposes of effecting any item
identified in item (iv).

7.1.5   The Company fails to maintain its corporate existence. 

7.2 Effect of Termination.  In the case of an occurrence of an Event of Termination, this 
Agreement, including without limitation the Grant provisions of Section 4 of this Agreement, shall 
terminate immediately and neither the City nor the Authority will have any further obligation 
relating thereto and the Company will no longer be eligible for the Grant.  

Section 8       Notices. 

All notices, demands or other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing 
and shall be sent to each other party, at its address specified below (or such other address as a party 
may from time to time specify to the other parties by notice given in accordance with this 
Agreement), and shall be deemed to have been duly given when actually received by the addressee 
or when served (a) personally; (b) by independent, reputable, overnight commercial carrier; or (c) 
by deposit in the United States mail, postage and fees fully prepaid, registered or certified mail, 
with return receipt requested, addressed as follows: 

If to the City: 

Chief Administrative Officer 
900 East Broad Street, Suite 201 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 

with a copy to: 

City Attorney 
900 East Broad Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 

If to the Authority: 

Executive Director 
Economic Development Authority of the City of Richmond 
1500 East Main Street, Suite 400 



Page 7 of 12 

Richmond, Virginia 23219 

with a copy to: 

City Attorney 
900 East Broad Street, Suite 400 
Richmond, Virginia 23219 

If to the Company: 

PPD Development, LP 
929 North Front Street 
Wilmington, NC 28401 
Attn: General Counsel 

with a copy to: 

PPD Development, LP 
929 North Front Street 
Wilmington, NC 28401 
Attn: Seth Morris, Director – Lab Operations 

Section 9 General Terms and Conditions. 

9.1 Entire Agreement; Amendments.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
among the parties hereto and may not be amended or modified, except in writing, signed by each 
of the parties hereto.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 
hereto and their respective successors and assigns.  The Company may not assign its rights and 
obligations under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the City and the Authority.   

9.2 Governing Law; Venue.  This Agreement is made, and is intended to be performed, in the 
Commonwealth of Virginia and shall be construed and enforced by the laws of the Commonwealth 
of Virginia.  Jurisdiction and venue for any litigation arising out of or involving this Agreement 
shall lie in the Circuit Court of the City of Richmond, and such litigation shall be brought only in 
such court. 

9.3 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be an original, and all of which together shall be one and the same instrument.  This 
Agreement is signed when a party’s signature is delivered by facsimile, email, or other electronic 
medium. These signatures must be treated in all respects as having the same force and effect as 
original signatures. 

9.4 Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable, invalid 
or illegal, then the enforceability, validity and legality of the remaining provisions will not in any 
way be affected or impaired, and such provision will be deemed to be restated to reflect the original 
intentions of the parties as nearly as possible in accordance with applicable law.   



Page 8 of 12 

9.5  Subject-to-Appropriations.  All payments and other performances by the City and the 
Authority under this Agreement are subject to City Council approval, Authority Board approval 
and annual appropriations by the City Council.  It is understood and agreed among the parties that 
the City and the Authority shall be bound hereunder only to the extent of the funds available, or 
which may hereafter become available for the purpose of this Agreement.  Under no circumstances 
shall the City’s or the Authority’s total liability under this Agreement exceed the total amount of 
funds appropriated by the City Council for the payments hereunder for the performance of this 
Agreement. 

9.6 Public Disclosure.   

9.6.1 Applicable Law.  The parties to this Agreement acknowledge that records maintained by 
or in the custody of the City and the Authority are subject to the provisions of the Virginia Public 
Records Act, Va. Code §§ 42.1-76 through 42.1-90.1, and the Virginia Freedom of Information 
Act, Va. Code §§ 2.2-3700 through 2.2-3714 and thus are subject to the records retention and 
public disclosure requirements set forth in those statutes. 

9.6.2 Challenges to Nondisclosure.  If a party submitting records to the City or the Authority 
requests that those records not be disclosed under applicable law and the City or the Authority 
consequently denies a request for disclosure of such records based on the submitting party’s 
request, and the City’s or the Authority’s denial of a request for disclosure of records is challenged 
in court, the submitting party shall indemnify, hold harmless and defend the City or the Authority, 
their respective officers and employees from any and all costs, damages, fees and penalties 
(including attorney’s fees and other costs related to litigation) relating thereto. 

9.7 No Waiver.  Neither failure on the part of the City or the Authority to enforce any covenant 
or provision contained in this Agreement nor any waiver of any right under this Agreement shall 
discharge or invalidate such covenant or provision or affect the right of the City or the Authority 
to enforce the same right in the event of any subsequent default. 

9.8 Effective Date of the Agreement.  The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date 
upon which it has been fully executed by the parties following approval by City Council and by 
the Authority’s Board of Directors. 

9.9 No Partnership or Joint Venture.  It is mutually understood and agreed that nothing 
contained in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed in any manner or under any 
circumstance whatsoever as creating and establishing the relationship of copartners or creating or 
establishing a joint venture between or among any of the parties or as designating any party to the 
Agreement as the agent or representative of any other party to the Agreement for any purpose. 

9.10 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 
the parties agree that (i) no individual or entity shall be considered, deemed or otherwise 
recognized to be a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement; (ii) the provisions of this Agreement 
are not intended to be for the benefit of any individual or entity other than the City, the Authority, 
the Property Owner, or the Company; (iii) no other individual or entity shall obtain any right to 
make any claim against the City, the Authority, or the Company under the provisions of this 



Page 9 of 12 

Agreement; and (iv) no provision of this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted to confer 
third-party beneficiary status on any individual or entity. 

9.12 Attorney’s Fees. Each party will bear its own attorney’s fees. 

9.13   Authorization to Act. The Chief Administrative Officer of the City of Richmond, Virginia 
or a designee thereof and the Chairman of the Economic Development Authority of the City of 
Richmond, Virginia are authorized to act on behalf of the City and the Authority, respectively, 
under this Agreement. 

SIGNATURES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE 



Page 10 of 12 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Performance Agreement 
as of the date first written above.  

CITY OF RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 

By  __________________________
Name: ________________________
Title: _________________________
Date: _________________________ 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT   
AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF RICHMOND, 
VIRGINIA  

By  __________________________
Name: ________________________
Title: _________________________
Date: _________________________ 

PPD DEVELOPMENT, LP  
By: PPD GP, LLC; Its General Partner 

By  __________________________
Name: ________________________
Title: _________________________
Date: _________________________ 

Exhibit A:  Annual Performance Report Form 

Approved as to form:

___________________
Deputy City Attorney



Page 11 of 12 

Exhibit A 
ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 

PROJECT SUMMARY: 

Project 
Location 
Amount of Grant 
Performance Date 

PROJECT PERFORMANCE:

Performance Measurement Target As of ________, 
20__ 

% Complete 

Total New Jobs 48 
Capital Investment (provide 
breakdown below)3

$4,700,000 

Average Annual Wage N/A 
Standard Fringe Benefits 

2 Attach the company’s four most recent Quarterly Tax Reports (Form FC-20) for the Richmond Facility filed with 
the Virginia Employment Commission. 
3 Data will be verified using records from the Commissioner of the Revenue and invoices. 

Capital Investment Breakdown Amount 

Land $ 
Land Improvements 
New Construction or Expansion 
Renovation or Building Up-fit 
Production Machinery and Tools 
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 
Other 
         Total $

COMMENTS: 

Please discuss status of the development and operation of the Facilities, including the current level of 
Capital Investment and New Jobs, progress on the Targets, changes or likely changes in the nature of the 
Facilities that may impact achievement of the Targets, and other information relevant to the Company’s 
performance. If the Company is not on track to meet the Targets by the Performance Date, please provide 
an explanation. 



 

Page 12 of 12 
 

TO BE CERTIFIED BY AN OFFICER OF THE COMPANY: 
 
I certify that I have examined this report and to the best of my knowledge and belief, it is true, 
correct, and complete. 
 
Company:            
 
Submitted By:          
  Signature of Official      

 
Name:          
 Print Name 

  
 Title:         
 
Date: _________________________ 
 
 
 
Please return to: 
 
Sam Earl, Senior Management Analyst, Richmond Department of Economic Development, 
804.646.4248, Sam.Earl@rva.gov 
 


	1 - EDA Board Meeting Disclosure
	2 - Divider - EDA Board Agenda
	3 - EDA Board March 28, 2024 Agenda
	4 - Divider - Meeting Minutes
	5 - February 22, 2024 Meeting Minutes
	Members present:
	Others present:
	Call to Order:
	Public Comments:
	Approval of Minutes of the Previous Meeting:
	Committee Reports:
	New Business:
	Executive Session:
	Discussion Items:
	Report to the Officers:
	Other Business:
	Adjournment:

	6 - Divider - EDA Financial Report
	7 - EDA Financial Report
	8 - Divider - Policy Regarding Participation In Meetings By Electronic Communication Means
	9 - Participation in Meetings by Electronic Communication Means
	10 - Divider - Operating Account Adjustments Due from the City of Richmond
	11 - Divider - State and Local Performance Grants for PPD
	12 - Ord. No 2024-064
	13 - Ord. No 2024-065



